ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

OCT 27 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Greenville County  
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

ANTONIO R. TRIMMIER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000369

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did trial counsel's failure to investigate, marshal, and present evidence of Petitioner's alibi – the fact that he was on house arrest at the time of the robbery – result in ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

II. Did trial counsel's failure to investigate, marshal, and present evidence to impeach the testifying co-defendants result in ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

## STATEMENT

During its September 2008 term, a Greenville County grand jury indicted Petitioner for armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in a single indictment (2008-GS-23-2523). App. 327-328. The state, represented by Katryna Salisbury, called the case to trial before the Honorable John C. Few and a jury on October 5, 2009. App. 1. Amanda Lackland represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury convicted Petitioner as charged. App. 184, lines 14-20. Judge Few sentenced Petitioner to twenty-two years' imprisonment for armed robbery and to five years' imprisonment for the weapon. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. App. 188, lines 16-20; App. 329-330.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. M. Celia Robinson represented Petitioner and filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) raising the issue of the trial judge's refusal to order sequestration of the witnesses, the only issue preserved for review. App. 190-205. On February 8, 2012, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal and relieved counsel. App. 210-211.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on March 7, 2013. App. 212-218. The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin presided over an evidentiary hearing in the matter on October 22, 2014. App. 224. Karen Ratigan represented the state, and Richard Warder represented Petitioner. App. 224. At the conclusion of the hearing, Petitioner, through counsel, moved to amend the record. App. 270-285. The state responded on November 21, 2014. App. 286-289. Petitioner filed an amended motion to amend the record. App. 290-318. By an order filed February 2, 2015, Judge Verdin granted the motion to amend the record, but denied Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 319-326.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel failed to investigate, marshal, and present evidence of Petitioner's alibi – the fact that he was on house arrest at the time of the robbery – rendering ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *Trial facts*

Shortly after 9:00 p.m. on January 3, 2008, Dr. Leonard Pugh was driving home from supper at his daughter's home in Mauldin. App. 55, lines 7-17. He noticed a car following him as he turned into his neighborhood, but he "did not think twice about it." App. 56, line 10 – Tr. 57, line 5. After turning into his driveway, Dr. Pugh was walking from his car to his door. He noticed a "slow-moving car," which he found "peculiar." App. 57, lines 6-15. Dr. Pugh then saw someone emerge from the bushes with a handgun. App. 57, lines 16-19. The man demanded money, which Dr. Pugh readily provided. App. 59, line 21 – App. 60, line 4. After getting the money, the man ran away. App. 60, lines 8-9. Dr. Pugh did not see the man get into a car. App. 65, lines 1-5.

Dr. Pugh described the person as a black man in a hooded sweatshirt. He was unable to see the man's face due to the sweatshirt, the streetlights illuminating the man from behind, and Dr. Pugh's decision to look at the ground for most of the encounter. Dr. Pugh testified the man did not appear any taller or larger than he, but his voice sounded like a young person's. App. 59, lines 14-15; App. 60, line 24 – App. 61, line 7; App. 61, lines 17-25; App. 62, lines 13-17. Dr. Pugh was six feet tall. App. 62, lines 5-6. The responding officer, Justin Landford, interviewed Dr. Pugh within thirty minutes of the robbery. App. 70, lines 5-12. According to Landford, Dr. Pugh described the robber as 5'7", weighing 165 pounds, and in his early twenties. App. 69, line

13 – App. 70, line 1. Dr. Pugh also told Lanford, the man had a small black handgun. App. 70, lines 2-4.

Dashaun James, Marteze Hardy, and Keith Williams were charged with armed robbery, which requires a minimum sentence of ten years, and conspiracy for their roles in the robbery of Dr. Pugh. App. 84, lines 13-17; App. 89, lines 9-19; App. 102, lines 18-24; App. 109, lines 10-16; App. 121, line 19 – App. 122, line 4; App. 125, lines 19-25. In exchange for their testimony against Petitioner, each of them pled guilty to lesser charges. Although he had not been sentenced at the time of Petitioner’s trial, Dashaun pled guilty to strong arm robbery, which has no mandatory minimum sentence. App. 85, lines 8-23; App. 89, line 20 – App. 90, line 10. Marteze and Keith entered guilty pleas to accessory after the fact of a felony, which has no mandatory minimum sentence. App. 104, lines 4-18; App. 109, line 19 – App. 110, line 2; App. 121, lines 5-21; App. 126, lines 1-10. A disturbing schools charge also was dismissed against Keith as part of the deal. App. 126, lines 11-13. The three cooperating co-defendants claimed they were with Petitioner on the evening of January 3, 2008 and that Petitioner robbed Dr. Pugh using a gun. App. 80, line 10 – App. 81, line 12; App. 99, lines 8-10; App. 100, lines 1-22; App. 101, lines 2-8; App. 117, line 3 – App. 118, line 12; App. 120, lines 14-18. Trial counsel sought to discredit them by pointing to inconsistencies in their stories and by noting their plea deals. App. 88, lines 2-4 (Dashaun was the only one of the three to say he did not see a gun); App. 89, lines 9-19 (plea deal); App. 89, line 20 – App. 90, line 10 (plea deal); App. 106, lines 6-9 (Marteze told police that he got off from work at 11:30 p.m. and the robbery occurred after that time); App. 106, lines 10-13 (Marteze told police the gun was a silver revolver with a brown grip); App. 107, line 12 – App. 108, line 5 (Marteze was inconsistent regarding whether Petitioner was running or walking); App. 109, lines 1-9 (Marteze did not tell police initially that

Keith was present); App. 109, lines 10-16 (plea deal); App. 109, line 19 – App. 110, line 2 (plea deal); App. 124, lines 12-23 (Keith did not tell police that Petitioner had a gun); App. 124, line 25 – App. 125, line 18 (Keith did not tell police that he received money after the robbery); App. 125, lines 19-25 (plea deal); App. 126, lines 1-13 (plea deal).

*PCR hearing*

According to trial counsel, her strategy was to discredit the cooperating co-defendants by showing they were testifying in exchange for plea bargains. App. 229, line 25 – App. 230, line 5; App. 236, lines 11-18. She noted there was no other evidence against Petitioner. App. 229, line 25 – App. 230, line 2. Trial counsel claimed she did not “specifically recall” if she learned that Petitioner was on house arrest at the time of the armed robbery. She admitted that if Petitioner “told [her] that,” then she was aware of it. App. 232, lines 1-4. However, she did not investigate Petitioner’s house arrest or whether such evidence could be used to establish an alibi defense. App. 232, lines 5-7. Further, trial counsel admitted Petitioner having an alibi because he was on house arrest would have been significant. App. 232, lines 8-10. She “believe[d]” she would have looked into it if Petitioner told her he was on house arrest at the time of the offense and she did not “believe” her file had a note about house arrest or any kind of follow up. App. 236, line 24 – App. 237, line 2.

According to Petitioner, he discussed his alibi defense with trial counsel and explained he was on house arrest at the time of the robbery. Prior to trial, he believed the defense presented would be alibi. App. 239, line 21 – App. 240, line 2; App. 257, lines 6-17. Petitioner noted that his mother would have testified that he was on house arrest at the time. App. 245, lines 12-15; App. 256, lines 2-12. He explained that he completed house arrest four days after the robbery without a single violation. App. 245, lines 15-25. Petitioner explained that trial counsel failed to

interview his alibi witnesses, who would have confirmed that he was “at home” when the robbery occurred, and failed to conduct an investigation into his house arrest, which would have confirmed he was “at home” when the robbery occurred. App. 248, lines 7-9; App. 248, line 21 – App. 249, line 6; App. 255, lines 13-15.

Petitioner’s mother, Tasha Trimmier, was very sick during the early part of 2008. App. 261, line 20 – App. 262, line 2. In fact, she was so sick she was confined to her bed. App. 262, lines 15-21. As a result, she relied heavily upon Petitioner, who lived with her, to assist her with even simple tasks. App. 261, line 25 – App. 262, line 2; App. 262, line 22 – App. 263, line 10. Further, Ms. Trimmier was aware that Petitioner was on house arrest at the time. As a result, he was at home when he was not at school or work. App. 261, lines 12-19. Although she did not remember the night of January 3, 2008 specifically, she would have testified at the trial about her illness and the fact that Petitioner was always there when she called out to him during the night. App. 262, line 22 – App. 263, line 10. Further, she would have testified that Petitioner was on house arrest and never violated it. App. 263, lines 11-15. In fact, Ms. Trimmier had informed trial counsel of these facts prior to trial. App. 263, lines 11-15.

Petitioner’s records maintained by the Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) corroborated Petitioner’s PCR testimony that he was on house arrest when the robbery occurred. Specifically, he was placed on house arrest on December 6, 2007 by the Honorable Timothy L. Brown concerning his juvenile adjudications for disorderly conduct and simple possession of marijuana. App. 316. Judge Brown sentenced him to commitment in DJJ suspended to probation and house arrest. App. 316. The records also corroborated Petitioner’s PCR testimony that he did not violate house arrest and successfully completed house arrest. In fact, the house arrest order was rescinded on February 2, 2008 and Petitioner’s probation ended on May 8, 2008. App. 316.

### *Order denying relief*

According to the order denying relief, Judge Verdin addressed Petitioner's claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to "discover geographic monitoring information from the Home Incarceration Program (HIP) which could have provided him with an alibi for the events in question." App. 322. The order claimed trial counsel "testified that, as a matter of trial strategy, she believed that evidence of HIP monitoring and gang affiliation would be more prejudicial than helpful." App. 323. According to the order, trial counsel "also feared that the use of HIP's GPS monitoring would open the door to evidence of [Petitioner]'s prior criminal record." App. 323.

Ultimately, the PCR judge held Petitioner had failed to prove trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms and had failed to prove he was prejudiced by trial counsel's performance. App. 324. According to the PCR judge, Petitioner "failed to present specific and compelling evidence that trial counsel committed wither [sic] errors or omissions in her representation" of Petitioner. App. 324. Thus, the court denied Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 324-325.

### **Discussion**

"The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at

687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

Without question, a trial attorney “has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014)(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691). “One component of that duty is to investigate alibi witnesses identified by a defendant, and the failure to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable.” Id. This Court has held that if trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy and the strategy used satisfies an objective standard of reasonableness, then the conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992); Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995).

In Walker, 407 S.C. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147, this Court held trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to interview Walker’s girlfriend regarding Walker’s whereabouts on the night of the alleged kidnapping and sexual assault. At the PCR hearing, Walker’s girlfriend testified that when she was dating Walker, which included the time of the alleged kidnapping and sexual assault, the two spent every weekend together. Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147. This Court acknowledged that while the girlfriend’s “testimony was not as clear as it could have been, due in part to the passage of five years, one viable interpretation of it was that Walker

spent the night of March 2 with her.” Id. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147. Thus, “it would be physically impossible for Walker to have committed the kidnapping and assaults.” Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147.

This Court has held that if trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, then the conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992). In Stokes, this Court determined trial counsel employed a valid strategy in not calling witnesses that he believed lacked credibility. Id. Similarly, this Court found counsel’s trial strategy reasonable in Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 10-11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) where trial counsel did not present evidence of the defendant’s future adaptability because to do so would have allowed the introduction of negative psychiatric and discipline reports.

On the other hand, this Court found counsel’s performance deficient in Gilchrist v. State, 350 S.C. 221, 228 n.2, 565 S.E.2d 281, 285 n.2 (2002) for failing to object to the state’s vouching for the credibility of a witness where counsel stated he decided not to object based upon a strategy, but never articulated that strategy. In Sanchez v. State, 351 S.C. 270, 276, 569 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2002), this Court determined trial counsel’s reason for not objecting to an officer’s hearsay testimony of the alleged assault on a child victim, which was that the testimony would help show the allegations were vague, was unreasonable because the hearsay corroborated the victim’s testimony.

In sum, if trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, then the conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel as long as the strategy used satisfies an objective standard of reasonableness. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992).

The PCR court's determination that trial counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence of Petitioner's alibi – house arrest – at the time of the commission of the robbery was not supported by the facts in the record. According to the PCR judge, “trial counsel testified that, as a matter of strategy, she believed the evidence of HIP monitoring and gang affiliation would be more prejudicial than helpful.” App. 323. Although trial counsel testified that she wanted to exclude evidence of gang affiliation, trial counsel never testified she wanted to excluded testimony regarding Petitioner's monitoring while on house arrest. In fact, trial counsel testified that Petitioner having an alibi as a result of house arrest would have been “significant.” Further, trial counsel would have been unable to make a reasonable determination on the presentation of evidence related to house arrest because she failed to make a reasonable investigation into the matter.

Trial counsel's failure to present Petitioner's alibi witnesses and evidence that he was on house arrest at the time of the robbery violated Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel. Petitioner informed trial counsel of his being on house arrest at the time of the offense. Additionally, even a cursory investigation into Petitioner's criminal record, which would have been a required component of trial counsel's investigation, would have revealed Petitioner was on house arrest. Had trial counsel investigated Petitioner's criminal record and learned he was on house arrest, she would have learned of the statutory provisions permitting house arrest as a condition of probation, even for juvenile offenders. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-1530(A)(permitting home detention as an alternative to incarceration for low-risk, nonviolent adult and juvenile offenders); S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1410(A)(3)(allowing a court to place a child “under supervision in the child's own home” following an adjudication); S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-1530(A)(permitting home detention as an alternative to incarceration for low-risk,

nonviolent adult and juvenile offenders); S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-1410(A)(3)(allowing a court to place a child “under supervision in the child’s own home” following an adjudication); S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-430(10)(explaining that as a condition of probation, an individual may be required to submit to house arrest “which is confinement in a residence for a period of twenty-four hours a day, with only those exceptions as the court may expressly grant in its discretion”); S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-430(11)(noting an individual on house arrest may have to “submit to intensive surveillance which may include surveillance by electronic means”).

Trial counsel’s failure to present the alibi witnesses and defense denied Petitioner his right to the effective assistance of counsel. Petitioner’s alibi would have refuted completely the testimony of the state’s cooperating witnesses, which was the only evidence against him. To the extent that Petitioner’s prior record would have been revealed to the jury through the presentation of the evidence of his house arrest, the jury would have learned merely that he had been adjudicated delinquent for simple possession of marijuana and disorderly conduct. App. 316. Those adjudications were for minor offenses and would not have permitted the jury to speculate that Petitioner’s prior criminal conduct created the likelihood that he had committed the current offense or that he was a gang member. Revealing the prior criminal record would have been a small price to pay for the opportunity to present evidence that Petitioner could *not* have committed the crime because he was someplace else. The only evidence against Petitioner was that of the state’s cooperating witnesses, who were obviously motivated to be less than honest with the jury in light of their cooperation agreements. Thus, the ability of Petitioner to present an alibi defense would have been critical evidence for the jury, and there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different.

II. Trial counsel failed to investigate, marshal, and present evidence to impeach the testifying co-defendants rendering ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

**Relevant facts**

*Trial facts*

The *only* evidence presented against Petitioner was that of his co-defendants, Dashaun James, Marteze Hardy, and Keith Williams. Each testified against him pursuant to plea agreements with the state in which they were allowed to enter guilty pleas to reduced charges, which eliminated the possibility of mandatory minimum sentences. Trial counsel used those plea agreements in her cross-examinations. App. 84, lines 13-17; App. 85, lines 8-23; App. 89, line 9 – App. 90, line 10; App. 102, lines 18-24; App. 104, lines 4-18; App. 109, lines 10-16; App. 109, line 19 – App. 110, line 2; App. 121, line 5 – App. 122, line 4; App. 125, lines 19-25; App. 126, lines 1-13.

*PCR hearing*

According to Keith Williams' rap sheet, he was charged with interference with officers on April 13, 2008 and had not been disposed of at the time of Petitioner's trial in October 2009. App. 276; App. 296. Additionally, Marteze Hardy had been charged with criminal conspiracy for an offense occurring on February 17, 2008, and with armed robbery and criminal conspiracy for an offense occurring on February 21, 2009. Those charges were outstanding at the time of Petitioner's trial. App. 278; App. 288.

As discussed supra, trial counsel testified that her strategy was to show the bias of the witnesses who testified against Petitioner as that was the only evidence against him. App. 229, line 24 – App. 230, line 5; App. 236, lines 11-18. Petitioner testified that trial counsel failed to

investigate and discovery that Marteze and Keith had other pending charges at the time of the trial. App. 249, lines 14-19. Petitioner wanted trial counsel to use those pending charges to contradict the witnesses and expose their biases. App. 249, lines 19-25; App. 250, lines 1-3.

*Order denying relief*

The PCR order addressed Petitioner's claim that trial counsel failed to conduct an adequate investigation prior to trial, including his specific allegation that trial counsel "did not sufficient investigate the background of the state's witnesses for the purposes of preparing an adequate cross examination." App. 322. The PCR order noted Petitioner alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to discover and use "evidence of pending charges against the state's witnesses," which would have been useful impeachment evidence. App. 322-323. Regarding this claim, the PCR judge found Petitioner had not met his burden of proving trial counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct a sufficient investigation. App. 324. Thus, the Court denied Petitioner relief on this ground. App. 324-325.

**Discussion**

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. Concerning prejudice, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694.

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