STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000369

RECEIVED

MAR 11 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

Antonio R. Trimmier, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have presented an alibi defense.

Petitioner argues the PCR judge’s finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel erred in not investigating and presenting evidence of his alibi – that he was allegedly on house arrest at the time of the crime – is not supported by the record. This argument is without merit.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated he had pending charges at the time of trial and that trial counsel stated this – along with testimony about the possibility of gang involvement – could make him “look bad” if he testified. (App.pp.244-45). Petitioner

stated he told trial counsel at his first meeting that he was on house arrest at the time of the crime. (App.p.257). Petitioner stated trial counsel said she “was going to look into it” but admitted trial counsel never said she would argue this as an alibi defense at trial. (App.pp.257-58).

Petitioner’s mother stated Petitioner was on house arrest at the time of the crime. Petitioner’s mother stated she could not remember the particular night but that Petitioner was always at home when she needed him. (App.pp.261-63).

Trial counsel testified she received this case one month before trial but that she had adequate time to prepare. (App.p.228; p.237). Trial counsel testified she and Petitioner would have discussed his prior record. (App.p.231). Trial counsel testified there were no notes in her file that Petitioner was on house arrest. (App.p.237). Trial counsel testified that, if Petitioner had said he was on house arrest at the time of the crime, she would have followed up on this. (App.pp.236-37). Trial counsel testified she made a pre-trial motion to limit gang testimony and that she decided “that if a jury heard that it was a gang activity, that would be more comparable to [Petitioner’s] case.” (App.pp.230-31).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found trial counsel articulated a valid strategic decision that she did not pursue the house arrest alibi theory at trial. (App.p.323). The PCR judge found trial counsel’s determinations in this regard were entitled to “strong deference.” (App.p.323).

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance

under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have argued an alibi defense at trial. In order to argue an alibi based on Petitioner's purported house arrest at the time of the crime, trial counsel would have had to elicit testimony that Petitioner had pending criminal charges at the time of the crime. This would have likely also opened the door to testimony that Petitioner's pending charges at the time were gang-related. Trial counsel made a reasonable and appropriate decision not to embark on this course. See Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) ("There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case."). Trial counsel was also not deficient in choosing not to present the purported alibi testimony of Petitioner's mother. As demonstrated at the PCR hearing, Petitioner's mother could not recall the day of the crime – she simply provided general testimony that Petitioner was "always there when [she] needed him" –

and thus would not have been a viable alibi witness. As such, trial counsel's decision not to call Petitioner's mother as a witness cannot be deemed deficient. See Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (finding that trial counsel's failure to present a purported alibi witness was not ineffective when that witness's testimony was insufficient to establish an alibi defense); see also State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 271 S.E.2d 319 (1980) (holding that since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the defendant's guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the defendant to be the guilty person is no alibi at all). The record clearly supports the PCR judge's conclusion that trial counsel articulated a valid trial strategy. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290, 301-02, 130 S. Ct. 841, 849-50 (2010) (holding the record can be read to support a judge's factual determination of counsel's trial strategy).

Regardless, Petitioner also failed to meet his burden of proving the lack of an alibi defense – centered on his purported house arrest – prejudiced the outcome of the trial. Petitioner failed to meet this burden because he did not present any credible evidence or testimony that he was, in fact, on house arrest at the time of the crime. Petitioner also failed to present any credible evidence or testimony that records from the house arrest program² to corroborate his contention that he was home on the night in question and could not have been involved in the armed robbery. Without such, Petitioner cannot demonstrate prejudice. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (holding that, since the contents of challenged documents were not presented at the PCR

² Referred to as the Home Incarceration Program, or HIP, in the PCR judge's order of dismissal.

hearing, the Applicant could not demonstrate how the failure of counsel to obtain these documents prejudiced the defense). Petitioner cannot demonstrate the outcome of his trial would have been different if trial counsel had pursued an alibi defense. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by trial counsel’s performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

II. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have impeached the testifying co-defendants.

Petitioner argues the PCR judge erred in finding Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have questioned the testifying co-defendants about their pending charges. This argument is without merit.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated trial counsel failed to “investigate and discover the backgrounds” of two of the testifying co-defendants. Petitioner stated Marteze Hardy and Keith Williams had criminal charges. (App.p.249). Petitioner also stated the three testifying co-defendants were members of the Bloods and he was a member of the Crips. Petitioner stated this should have been explored at trial to show

these witnesses had a motive to lie. (App.pp.240-41). Petitioner stated he believed the outcome of his trial would have been different if the jury knew he was in a gang that was a rival to the co-defendants' gang. (App.pp.258-59).

Trial counsel testified the trial strategy was to show the co-defendants' bias, as they were offered plea bargains in exchange for their testimony against Petitioner. (App.p.230; p.233). Trial counsel testified she made the decision regarding testimony about the co-defendants' gang affiliation "that if a jury heard that it was a gang activity, that would be more comparable to [Petitioner's] case." (App.p.231). Trial counsel testified she believed they could "poke enough holes in the State's case and just limit it to just cross-examination just as a strategic decision." (App.p.233; p.236).

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge noted trial counsel's testimony that she believed cross-examination would be sufficient to attack the State's witnesses. (App.p.324). The PCR judge found trial counsel had adequate time to prepare for trial and "no evidence presented by [Petitioner] which demonstrates any ineffective assistance of trial counsel." (App.p.324).

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have investigated the backgrounds of the testifying co-defendants. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner was adamant that trial counsel should have questioned the co-defendants about their gang affiliations in order to show they had motive to testify against him. It is clear trial counsel made a strategic decision not to pursue the issue of the co-defendants' pending charges – and thus their gang affiliations – during trial, as that would have also brought up the issue of Petitioner's own gang

affiliation, which could have only served to harm Petitioner's case. A strategic or tactical decision does not have to be articulated by counsel on the record; counsel does not have to personally identify his or her thinking. It is enough that the record show a basis for strategy, not that counsel announce that strategy on the record. See Wood v. Allen, 558 U.S. 290, 130 S. Ct. 841 (2010). Rather, trial counsel wisely decided to attack the testifying co-defendants by arguing they were biased in favor of the State because of the beneficial plea agreements they had received. Trial counsel asked each of these witnesses about the reduced charge and sentence they were now facing. (App.pp.89-90; pp.109-10; pp.125-26). Trial counsel also emphasized these inherent biases in her closing argument. (App.pp.172-73). As trial counsel articulated and then executed a valid trial strategy, such conduct cannot be deemed ineffective merely because the jury ultimately found Petitioner was guilty. See Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995) (finding where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel); see also Huggler v. State, 360 S.C. 627, 633, 602 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2004) (citing Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002)) ("Counsel's strategy will be reviewed under 'an objective standard of reasonableness.'").

Regardless, Petitioner also failed to meet his burden of proving the lack of further investigation into the testifying co-defendants prejudiced the outcome of the trial. Petitioner failed to present any credible evidence or testimony that two of these co-defendants (Hardy and Williams), in fact, had prior criminal convictions. See Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 349-50, 495 S.E.2d 768, 770 (1998) (finding applicant failed to

prove prejudice from counsel's failure to investigate criminal backgrounds of victims and witnesses when he failed to substantiate at the PCR hearing that the victims and witnesses had criminal records). While Petitioner presents what are purported to be RAP sheets as exhibits in the Applicant's Amended Motion to Amend the Record and Include Exhibits Which Supports Applicant's Testimony," these documents merely indicate Hardy and Williams had been previously arrested, not that they had been convicted. (App.p.296; p.298). It is axiomatic that trial counsel could not have impeached Hardy and Williams with these arrests, however, as this is not permitted because they were not convictions. See Rule 609, SCRE. Further, while Petitioner argues these arrests were pending charges associated with this crime – and thus could be used to impeach the testifying co-defendants – he has not presented credible evidence or testimony to corroborate this. See Butler v. State, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. As such, Petitioner cannot demonstrate the outcome of his trial would have been different if trial counsel had further investigated the testifying co-defendants. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. at 389, 570 S.E.2d at 174.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues discussed above.